IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

* * * * *

FREDERICK HARRIS,

Appellant,

VS.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed S.C. CASE NO. 6909 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION (JURY TRIAL)

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT
THE HONORABLE JUDGE MICHELLE LEAVITT, PRESIDING

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

CHRISTOPHER R. ORAM, ESQ. Attorney at Law Nevada Bar No. 004349 520 S. Fourth Street, 2nd Floor

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

Telephone: (702) 384-5563

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

STEVE WOLFSON, ESQ. District Attorney

200 Lewis Avenue Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

(702) 671-2500

Issues Presented for Review vi
Jurisdictional Statement
Routing Statement
Statement of the Case
Statement of Facts
Arguments
I. 28 II 33 III 37 IV 42 V 47 VI 50 VII 55 VIII 57 IX 62
Conclusion
Certificate of Compliance
Certificate of Service

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT

Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 124 S. Ct. 1354 (2004)
<u>Davis v. Alaska</u> , 415 U.S. 308, 94 S. Ct. 1105 (1974)
Douglas v. Alabama, 380 U.S. 415, 85 S. Ct. 1074 (1965)
<u>Greene v. McElroy</u> , 360 U.S. 474, 79 S. Ct. 1400(1959)
<u>Idaho v. Wright</u> , 497 U.S. 805, 111 L. Ed. 2d. 638, 110 S. Ct. 3139 (1989) . 35, 45
<u>Jackson v. Virginia</u> , 443 U.S. 307, 61 LED. 2d 560, 99 S. Ct. 2781 (1979) 57
<u>Lee v. Illinois</u> , 476 U.S. 530, 90 L. Ed.2d. 514, 106 S. Ct. 2056 (1996) 35
Mattox v. United States, 156 U.S. 237, 15 S. Ct. 337, 39 L. Ed. 409 (1895) 36
Pointer v. Texas, 380 U.S. 400, 85 S. Ct. 1065, 13 L. Ed. 2d 923 (1965) 29, 44
<u>United States v. Abel</u> , 469 U.S. 45, 105 S. Ct. 465, 83 L. Ed. 2d 450 (1985) 30
STATE OF NEVADA
Big Pond v. State, 101 Nev. 1, 692 P.2d 1288 (1985)
Brake vs. Nevada, 113 Nev. 579, 939 P.2d 1029 (1997)
Bushnell v. State, 95 Nev. 570, 599 P.2d 1038 (1979)
<u>Canada v. State</u> , 944 P.2d 781, 113 Nev. 938 (1997)
<u>Carol vs. Nevada</u> 111 Nev. 371, 892 P.2d 586 (1995)
Dechant v. State, 10 P.3d 108, 116 Nev. 918 (2000)

<u>Domingues v. State</u> , 112 Nev. 683, 917 P.2d 1364 (1996)
Eckert v. State, 96 Nev. 96, 605 P.2d 617 (1980)
<u>Johnson v. Nevada</u> , 113 Nev. 772, 942 P.2d 167 (1997)
<u>Jones v. State</u> , 108 Nev. 651, 837 P.2d 1349 (1992)
<u>Koza v. State</u> , 100 Nev. 245, 681 P.2d 44 (1984)
<u>Lane v. State</u> , 110 Nev. 1156, 881 P.2d 1358 (1994)
<u>Lobato v. Nevada</u> , 120 Nev. 512, 96 P.3d 765 (2004)
<u>Lopez v. State</u> , 105 Nev. 68, 769 P.2d 1276 (1989)
Mckenna vs. State, 96 Nev. 811, 618 P.2d 348 (1980)
Mendoza v. State, 122 Nev. 267, 130 P.3d 176 (2006)
Meyer vs. State of Nevada, 119 Nev. 554, 80 P.3d 447 (2003)
<u>Pascua v. Nevada</u> , 122 Nev. 1001, 145 P.3d 1031 (2006)
Ransey v. State, 100 Nev. 277, 680 P.2d 596 (1984)
Rowbottom v. State., 105 Nev. 472, 779 P.2d 934 (1989)
Summitt v. State, 101 Nev. 159, 697 P.2d 1374 (1985)
State of Nevada v. Rosemary Vandecar, 2015 Nev. Unpub. Lexis 248 (2015) 54
<u>Viray v. Nevada</u> , 121 Nev. 159, 111 P.3d 1079, (Nev. 2005)
Wright v. State, 94 Nev. 415, 581 P. 2d 442 (1978)

FEDERAL CIRCUITS

<u>Dickson vs. Sullivan</u> , 849 F.2d at 403 (9 th Cir. 1988)
<u>Sassounian vs. Roe</u> , 230 F.3d 1097 (9 th Cir. 2000)
<u>United States v. Collicott</u> , 92 F.3d 973 (9th Cir. 1996)
<u>United States v. Dorrell</u> , 758 F.2d 427 (9 th Cir. 1985)
<u>United States v. Vallejos</u> , 742 F.3d 902 (9 th Cir. 2014)
NEVADA REVISED STATUTES
NRS 47.120
NRS 50.090
NRS 51.115
NRS 178.598
NRS 16.080

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. MR. HARRIS WAS DENIED THE RIGHT TO CONFRONTATION
 BASED ON THE DISTRICT COURT'S PRECLUSION OF
 QUESTIONING REGARDING BIAS AND MOTIVE IN VIOLATION
 OF THE SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE
 UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.
- II. MR. HARRIS WAS DENIED THE RIGHT TO CONFRONTATION WHEN THE DISTRICT COURT PERMITTED INADMISSIBLE HEARSAY TESTIMONY FROM A SEPARATELY CHARGED CO-OFFENDER IN VIOLATION OF THE SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS.
- III. THE DISTRICT COURT VIOLATED THE CONFRONTATION
 CLAUSE BY DENYING THE DEFENSE THE OPPORTUNITY TO
 QUESTION WITNESSES AS TO V.D.'S PRIOR INCONSISTENT
 STATEMENTS IN VIOLATION OF THE SIXTH AND
 FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES
 CONSTITUTION.
- IV. MR. HARRIS RECEIVED AN UNFAIR TRIAL WHEN THE
 DISTRICT COURT PERMITTED PORTIONS OF LEALER ANN
 COOKS' (MS. ANNE) STATEMENTS TO THE POLICE IN
 VIOLATION OF THE UNITED STATES CONFRONTATION
 CLAUSE.
- V. MR. HARRIS SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN CONVICTED OF KIDNAPPING AS IT WAS INCIDENTAL TO THE SEXUAL ASSAULT AND LEWDNESS COUNTS.
- VI. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED WHEN IT FAILED TO GRANT MR. HARRIS' MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL AFTER IT WAS LEARNED THAT A JUROR VIOLATED THE DISTRICT COURT'S ADMONITION.

- VII. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DENYING MR. HARRIS'
 MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL REGARDING JUROR
 MISCONDUCT.
- VIII. THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE PRESENTED TO CONVICT MR. HARRIS OF THE CHARGES AGAINST HIM.
- IX. MR. HARRIS' CONVICTIONS MUST BE REVERSED BASED UPON A CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF THE ERRORS DURING TRIAL.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Mr. Harris' Judgment of Conviction was filed on November 2, 2015 (A.A. Vol. 7 p. 843-848). Mr. Harris filed a timely Notice of Appeal on October 27, 2015 (A.A. Vol. 7 p. 849-850).

ROUTING STATEMENT

This matter should be assigned to the Nevada Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(1) which states in pertinent part that the Court of Appeals is only presumptively assigned direct appeals not involving a conviction for a category A or B felony. This case involves a direct appeal of multiple category A felonies.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Harris was charged by way of Information with the following:

Count 1- Child abuse, neglect, or endangerment; Count 2- Sexual Assault with a minor under fourteen years of age; Count 3- Sexual Assault with a minor under fourteen years of age; Count 4- Lewdness with a child under the age of 14; Count 5- Lewdness with a child under the age of 14; Count 6- Sexual Assault with a minor under fourteen years of age; Count 7- Lewdness with a child under the age of 14; Count 8- Sexual Assault with a minor under fourteen years of age; Count 9- Sexual Assault with a minor under fourteen years of age; Count 10- Sexual Assault with a minor under fourteen years of age; Count 11- Sexual Assault with a minor under fourteen years of age; Count 12- Lewdness with a child under the age of 14; Count 13- Sexual Assault with a minor under fourteen years of age; Count 14- Sexual Assault with a minor under fourteen years of age; Count 15- Child abuse, neglect, or endangerment; Count 16- Child abuse, neglect, or

endangerment; Count 18- Child abuse, neglect, or endangerment; Count 19- First degree kidnaping; Count 20- Lewdness with a child under the age of 14; Count 21- Sexual Assault with a minor under fourteen years of age; Count 22- Sexual Assault with a minor under fourteen years of age; Count 23- Coercion (sexually motivated); Count 24- Administration of a drug to aid in the commission of a crime; Count 25- First degree kidnaping; Count 26- Sexual Assault with a minor under sixteen years of age; Count 27- Administration of a drug to aid in the commission of a crime; Count 28- First degree kidnaping; Count 29- Sexual Assault with a minor under sixteen years of age; Count 30- Sexual Assault with a minor under sixteen years of age; Count 31- Sexual Assault with a minor under sixteen years of age; Count 32- Sexual Assault with a minor under sixteen years of age; Count 33- Sexual Assault with a minor under sixteen years of age; Count 34- Sexual Assault with a minor under sixteen years of age; Count 35- Sexual Assault with a minor under sixteen years of age; Count 36- Sexual Assault; Count 37- First degree kidnaping; Count 38; Battery with intent to commit sexual assault; Count 39- Sexual Assault; Count 40- Sexual Assault; Count 41-Sexual Assault; Count 42- Pandering; Count 43- Sexual Assault; Count 44- Living from the earnings of a prostitute; Count 45- Battery by strangulation.

On April 15, 2014, Mr. Harris was found guilty of: Eleven counts of Sexual Assault with a Minor Under Fourteen Years of Age; five counts of Lewdness with a Child Under the Age of 14; six counts of Sexual Assault with a Minor Under Sixteen Years of Age; four counts of Sexual Assault; four counts of First Degree Kidnapping; one count of Administration of a Drug to Aid in the Commission of a Crime; one count of Coercion; one count of Battery with Intent to Commit Sexual Assault; one count of Child Abuse, Neglect, or Endangerment; one count of

Pandering; and one count of Living from the Earnings of a Prostitute. Mr. Harris was found not guilty of two counts of Sexual Assault with a Minor Under Sixteen Years of Age; one count of Sexual Assault; one count of Administration of a Drug to Aid in the Commission of a Crime; four counts of Child Abuse, Neglect, or Endangerment; and one count of Battery by Strangulation.

Mr. Harris filed a Motion for a new trial on April 25, 2014 (A.A. Vol. 7 p. 816-822). The district court denied the motion for a new trial on June 13, 2014 (A.A. Vol. 8 p. 954-964).

Mr. Harris was sentenced on October 27, 2015. Mr. Harris' total aggregate sentence is life with the possibility of parole after 918 months (A.A. Vol. 22 p. 3340-3343). Mr. Harris' Judgment of Conviction was entered on November 2, 2015 (A.A. Vol. 7 p. 843-848). A timely Notice of Appeal was filed on October 27, 2015.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. FACTS ADDUCED AT TRIAL

Ms. T.D. has five children, V.D. (A.A. Vol. 11 p. 1466), M.D. (A.A. Vol. 11 p.1465), S.D. (A.A. Vol. 11 p.1464), and Tah. D. (A.A. Vol. 11 p. 1459), and Taq. D (A.A. Vol. 11 p.1458). In 2004, T.D. separated from the father of the children (A.A. Vol. 11 p.1522). Apparently, the children had received no formal education

(A.A. Vol. 11 p.1522).

T.D. was working as a cocktail waitress in Monroe, Louisiana when she first met Mr. Harris in July of 2004 (A.A. Vol. 11 p. 1524-1525, 1531). When Mr. Harris left to live in Las Vegas, the two still kept in touch (A.A. Vol. 11 p.1527). T.D. eventually came to Las Vegas, in December of 2004, leaving her children behind (A.A. Vol. 11 p.1528). T.D. met Mr. Harris' girlfriend, Lealer Ann Cooks (A.A. Vol. 11 p.1529). Eventually, Mr. Harris' brother went to pick up T.D.'s children from Louisiana to bring them to Las Vegas (A.A. Vol. 11 p. 1529-1530). T.D. obtained employment at Larry's Villa (A.A. Vol. 11 p.1531). T.D. then began working at Jason's deli (A.A. Vol. 11 p.1532). When the children arrived, they stayed at a residence with Ms. Anne (Ms. Anne is Lealer Ann Cooks). Mr. Harris worked for sprint/century link (A.A. Vol. 11 p.1534).

When T.D. arrived in Las Vegas, she was two months pregnant and decided to put the baby up for adoption (A.A. Vol. 11 p.1535). The adoption agency moved T.D. to Orem, Utah in May of 2005 (A.A. Vol. 11 p.1536). Prior to moving to Utah, V.D. accused Mr. Harris of fondling her (A.A. Vol. 11 p. 1536). T.D. did not believe V.D. because Mr. Harris got along with the children well.

V.D. stated that she made the sexual assault allegation because she was mad as a result of an argument she had with Mr. Harris (A.A. Vol. 11 p. 1537). After

moving to Utah, the adoption agency provided a place to live and prenatal care (A.A. Vol. 11 p. 1538). In December, T.D. returned to visit Mr. Harris for his birthday (A.A. Vol. 11 p. 1539). T.D. left the children with a neighbor in Utah (A.A. Vol. 11 p. 1539). Child protective services then removed the children based on T.D.'s abandonment (A.A. Vol. 11 p. 1540). Eventually, T.D. got her children back (A.A. Vol. 11 p. 1541). T.D. moved back to Las Vegas because she believed she could make more money working in a casino than in the hospital in Utah (A.A. Vol. 11 p. 1543). When the family returned from Utah, the four youngest children were taken to the Blankenship residence (A.A. Vol. 11 p. 1545). Whereas, V.D. was not permitted to live at that residence (A.A. Vol. 11 p. 1546). V.D. and T.D. stayed with Mr. Harris' mother, Dorothy, for approximately three weeks (A.A. Vol. 11 p. 1547). The youngest four children were enrolled in the Clark County School District (A.A. Vol. 11 p. 1547).

After returning from Utah, T.D., V.D. and Mr. Harris all went for a drive in Mr. Harris' car (A.A. Vol. 11 p. 1548). V.D. allegedly consumed alcohol given to her by Mr. Harris (A.A. Vol. 11 p. 1550). Allegedly, Mr. Harris had sexual intercourse with V.D. in the vehicle, in T.D.'s presence (A.A. Vol. 11 p. 1551). This occurred in approximately August of 2007, when V.D. was 14 years old (A.A. Vol. 11 p. 1552). During this time period, T.D. claimed she was committing

acts or prostitution (A.A. Vol. 11 p. 1554). T.D. claimed she began a life of prostitution at Mr. Harris' insistence (A.A. Vol. 11 p. 1554).

According to T.D., Mr. Harris would physically assault her (A.A. Vol. 11 p. 1556). T.D. claimed that she had to provide the money to Mr. Harris or she would be beaten. On one occasion, Mr. Harris sodomized her (A.A. Vol. 11 p. 1558). T.D. claimed she was forced to have sex with V.D. as Mr. Harris watched (A.A. Vol. 11 p. 1559-1560). According to T.D., she complied because Mr. Harris threatened to kill her and her family (A.A. Vol. 11 p. 1560). On another occasion, T.D. claims she was forced to perform oral sex on V.D. while V.D. performed oral sex on T.D. (A.A. Vol. 11 p. 1561). T.D. was ingesting cocaine, pills and drinking alcohol during the relevant time period (A.A. Vol. 11 p. 1562).

Sometime in the summer of 2008, possibly 2009, V.D. and T.D. moved into the Blankenship residence with the other children (A.A. Vol. 11 p. 1564). T.D. lived at the Blankenship residence until approximately August of 2010 (A.A. Vol. 11 p. 1566).

Ms. Anne received temporary legal custody of Tah. D. and Taq. D. (A.A. Vol. 11 p. 1566). When T.D. moved out she brought V.D., M.D., and S.D. with her (A.A. Vol. 11 p. 1567). Tah. D. and Taq. D. stayed at the Blankenship residence (A.A. Vol. 11 p. 1567). T.D. continued to have a consensual sexual

relationship with Mr. Harris after she moved out of the home in the summer of 2010 (A.A. Vol. 11 p. 1567).

In October of 2011, T.D., M.D., V.D. and S.D. moved into a residence in Henderson, Nevada (A.A. Vol. 11 p. 1569-1570). At the end of the 2011, or early 2012, V.D. made allegations to the police about Mr. Harris (A.A. Vol. 11 p. 1571). T.D. spoke to the Henderson police but claimed that she "left out a few things" (A.A. Vol. 11 p. 1573).

According to T.D., she, Ms. Anne and Mr. Harris had sex at one time together (A.A. Vol. 11 p. 1575). On one occasion, at Ms. Anne's house, T.D. claimed that she was strangled by Mr. Harris with a wire cord (A.A. Vol. 11 p. 1575-1576). During one alleged beating, T.D. explained that Mr. Harris threw "ugly work boots" at her like she was "George Bush or something" (A.A. Vol. 11 p. 1577). T.D. remembered that child protective services had received a complaint about the treatment of her children in Louisiana (A.A. Vol. 11 p. 1598-1600). At one point, child protective services removed the children from T.D.'s custody for six months while they were in Utah (A.A. Vol. 12 p. 1628). T.D. got the children back after completing a parenting class in August of 2006 (A.A. Vol. 12 p. 1628).

On one occasions, T.D. told the police she was forced by Mr. Harris to be a prostitute in 2007. Whereas, she told the jury that Mr. Harris forced her to be a

prostitute in 2005 (A.A. Vol. 12 p. 1631-1640). T.D. admitted Mr. Harris was strict on the children's regarding education (A.A. Vol. 12 p. 1648). T.D. even admitted that while under the care of Mr. Harris in his home and without her presence, her four youngest children were doing better in school than they had in their entire life (A.A. Vol. 12 p. 1648-1649). T.D. described Ms. Anne as a wonderful caretaker for her two youngest children (A.A. Vol. 12 p. 1723).

In a recorded interview, T.D. informed the police that she had never seen Mr. Harris abuse the children (A.A. Vol. 12 p. 1641). V.D. had butted heads with both Mr. Harris and Ms. Anne because of her disrespectful and abusive behavior (1658).

T.D. informed police that Mr. Harris never took money from her against her will (A.A. Vol. 12 p. 1721). In fact, T.D. told police that Mr. Harris never forced her to do "anything" (A.A. Vol. 12 p. 1722).¹

V.D. received psychotherapy and prescription medication for therapeutic purposes in 2010 (A.A. Vol. 12 p. 1722). T.D. also recalled an incident where V.D. became angry at Mr. Harris because she blamed him for her dog going missing (A.A. Vol. 12 p. 1723). In fact, the dog escaped when utility workers were

¹ T.D. was arrested for prostitution in September/October of 2009 (A.A. Vol. 12 p. 1716).

at the residence (A.A. Vol. 12 p. 1723). T.D. previously told police that V.D. had attempted to force her way into the bedroom when she was involved in sexual relations with Mr. Harris (A.A. Vol. 12 p. 1726). T.D. recalled that it made Mr. Harris feel very uncomfortable when V.D. attempted to come into the room (A.A. Vol. 12 p. 1727-1728). This caused T.D. to be so upset with V.D. that she refused to talk to her for a period of time (A.A. Vol. 12 p. 1727-1728). V.D. previously admitted she hated Mr. Harris and that she was going to "get Mr. Harris" (A.A. Vol. 12 p. 1728). T.D. admitted that it made her very sad that Mr. Harris chose to have a relationship with Ms. Anne as opposed to herself. This also made V.D. angry (A.A. Vol. 12 p. 1736).

At the time of her trial testimony, V.D. was 21 years old (born July 21, 1992) (A.A. Vol. 13 p. 1880). V.D. was approximately eleven or twelve years old at the time she arrived in Las Vegas from Louisiana (1884). In January of 2005, V.D. was sleeping in Mr. Harris' apartment (A.A. Vol. 13 p. 1887). V.D. claims that Mr. Harris forced her to feel his penis (A.A. Vol. 13 p. 1888-1889). Then, Mr. Harris allegedly forced his finger into V.D.'s vagina (A.A. Vol. 13 p. 1890). Mr. Harris then allegedly attempted to place his penis into her vagina (A.A. Vol. 13 p. 1890-1891). V.D. was then allegedly told not to tell anyone, or she would be beaten up (A.A. Vol. 13 p. 1891).

Before the sexual assault allegation, V.D. had only witnessed physical abuse to herself and S.D. (A.A. Vol. 13 p. 1892). V.D. claimed that Mr. Harris would physically abuse her and her siblings (A.A. Vol. 13 p. 1891-1892). V.D. supposedly informed Ms. Anne about the sexual assault allegation (A.A. Vol. 13 p. 1893). Neither Ms. Anne nor Mr. Harris' mother Dorothy, believed her allegations (A.A. Vol. 13 p. 1894). Apparently, V.D.'s own mother, T.D., did not even believe her (A.A. Vol. 13 p. 1895).

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