IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed  
Nov 23 2016 10:07 a.m.  
Elizabeth A. Brown  
Clerk of Supreme Court

FREDERICK HARRIS,  
Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,  
Respondent.

Case No. 69093

**RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

**Appeal From Judgment of Conviction  
Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County**

CHRISTOPHER R. ORAM, ESQ.  
Nevada Bar #004349  
520 S. Fourth Street, 2nd Floor  
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101  
(702) 384-5563

STEVEN B. WOLFSON  
Clark County District Attorney  
Nevada Bar #001565  
Regional Justice Center  
200 Lewis Avenue  
Post Office Box 552212  
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212  
(702) 671-2500  
State of Nevada

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

Finally, any error that occurred was harmless. Miss Ann's statement, admitted through Dr. Gondy, was that Tah. D. disclosed sexual abuse to Miss Ann. At no point did Dr. Gondy identify a possible perpetrator of the sexual assault. The

information was limited to that needed for treatment purposes and did not directly implicate Harris. Further, Tah. D. herself testified to her disclosure to Miss Ann:

Q. Okay. You said that you told [Taq. D.] after the laundry room. After you told [Taq. D] do you know what [Taq.D.] did?

A: She – she went to Ms. Ann, then he told Ms. Ann.

Q: And after she told Ms. Ann, did Ms. Ann talk to you was well?

A: Yes.

...

Q: After you and [Taq. D.] talked to Ms. Ann, did Ms. Ann take you somewhere? You're nodding your head again.

A: Oh. Yes.

Q: Where did she take you?

A: She had took me to the doctor.

17 AA 2650-2651. Because Tah. D. testified as to her disclosure to Miss Ann, and because Miss Ann never identified Harris as the person Tah. D. accused of sexual abuse, admission of Dr. Gondy's testimony on this matter was harmless.<sup>1</sup>

### III.

#### **The Court properly excluded irrelevant testimony about V.D.'s sexual history.**

Harris argues that V.D. told the jury she was a virgin until Harris assaulted her in August of 2007 and his right to confrontation was denied when he was not allowed to introduce extrinsic evidence to the contrary. He sought to introduce evidence that V.D. ceased to be a virgin at some point prior to August of 2007, and

---

<sup>1</sup> To the extent Harris's argument can be read to assert his rights under Bruton were violated, this claim is also without merit. Bruton only applies when a codefendant would have reason and ability to invoke their Fifth Amendment rights. Because Miss Ann had already been convicted and sentenced, she no longer had a Fifth Amendment right and Bruton no longer precluded the introduction of her statements.

use this supposed inconsistency to impeach her credibility. He argues that he should have been allowed to introduce this alleged proof through T.D.'s testimony and Detective Aguiar's testimony. However, extrinsic evidence of specific instances of conduct of a witness is inadmissible to impeach a witness. NRS 50.085(3); Collman v. State, 116 Nev. 687, 703, 7 P.3d 426, 436 (2000). Prior inconsistent statements may be admitted as impeachment through extrinsic evidence, but only if the witness alleged to have made the prior inconsistent statement is confronted with the statement. NRS 50.135(3). And, impeachment on a collateral matter is not allowed. McKee v. State, 112 Nev. 642, 647, 917 P.2d 940, 943 (1996). Further, the court is allowed wide discretion in admitting and excluding evidence. McLellan v. State, 124 Nev. 263, 182 P.3d 106 (2008).

To formulate his arguments, Harris depends on the erroneous assertion that "V.D. testified on direct and cross examination that Mr. Harris was responsible for taking her virginity," and cites to Volume 18 of the Appellant's Appendix. AOB at 38. However, V.D.'s testimony is not found in that particular Volume. Instead, what Harris cites to is a statement by his own attorney in which she claims "V.D. testified that she was a virgin up until she came back from Utah..." 18 AA 2824. At this point in the trial, Harris was attempting to introduce his own statements to the police that V.D. told him that she had been engaging in sexual activity while she

lived in Utah. 18 AA 2823-2824. However, this statement to the court during trial by Harris's attorney was an erroneous recitation of V.D.'s testimony.

A review of V.D.'s actual direct and cross-examination testimony reveals that at no point did she make any factual assertions as to when she lost her virginity. Rather, as she recounted the ways in which Harris harassed her, V.D. included the detail that Harris wanted to believe that he was taking her virginity. On direct she testified:

Q: I'm going to ask you, what did Fred say to you only, not what your mom said, just what Fred said to you.

A: He said that I was – that he wasn't going to leave me alone and that he liked women, and that if I don't do what him and my mother say that I was going to wind up in a crazy home or in Child Haven and that I would never be able to see my siblings again because I can't be trusted and I wasn't listening to my mom when I was in Utah. And that he wasn't going to leave me alone, he wasn't going to let me do anything. **He was going to bother me and bother me because he wanted to take my virginity.**

14 AA 1902 (emphasis added). V.D.'s virginity came up again when she testified about her disclosure to Miss Rose:

Q: When did you tell Miss Rose?

A: In November of 2011.

Q: Can you describe how that happened?

A: She was talking to me about staying a virgin and waiting until you get married and being with God.

Q: Where were you at when you told Miss Rose this?

A: At her house.

Q: Would you stay at her house sometimes?

A: On the weekends.

...

Q: Describe how you told Miss Rose.

A: I asked her if she could keep something to herself if I told her. And I told her that I wasn't a virgin and I did not – and I didn't wait.

Q: What else did you tell Miss Rose?

A: I told her about what had happened between me and my mom August 2007, the 24<sup>th</sup> of August.

Q: What else did you tell her?

A: I told her about what happened between me, my mom, and Fred.

14 AA 1963-64.

This testimony was limited to recounting a conversation with Miss Rose and V.D. did not assert that Harris took her virginity. V.D. was a girl suffering from the effects of repeated sexual assaults and when Miss Rose talked to her about her virginity, she finally found her opportunity to speak about the horrific abuse she had endured over the course of several years. Her disclosure was not specific as to whether she was a virgin before the assaults or not and her virginity ceased to be the central topic of the conversation when she began to open up to Miss Rose.

In cross-examination, Harris did not question V.D. about this testimony, or her virginity generally. 14 AA 1971- 2134. Rather, several days later, he sought to introduce extrinsic evidence in the form of his own statement to police. 18 AA 2824.

As this court is well aware, the body of evidence which it is able to review is only that which was presented to the trier of fact, the jury. The jury was charged with making its own determinations of credibility, reliability, and ultimately guilt, based on the testimony presented. Harris relies on a misconstruction of this record to claim that the State first opened the door of V.D.'s sexual history. V.D. never

testified that she lost her virginity when Harris assaulted her. As the State never elicited such testimony, V.D.'s sexual history is irrelevant to either Harris's guilt or V.D.'s veracity as a witness such that it is inconceivable that Harris was deprived any right to confrontation under the Sixth Amendment.

Additionally, even if Harris's construction of the record were accurate, his argument would still be without merit. Harris declined to confront V.D. during cross-examination with what he believed to be inconsistent statements and/or specific instances of conduct but instead sought to impeach her with extrinsic evidence. Such was properly prohibited by the District Court in accordance with NRS 50.135(2) and 50.085(3). Further, V.D.'s virginity was a collateral matter, and did nothing to address the issue of whether Harris sexually abused her on multiple occasions. In contrast, evidence that Harris *believed* V.D. was a virgin when he sexually assaulted her in the back of a car was relevant to provide detail and context to the sexual abuse itself.

The Rape Shield Statute further precluded Harris's proposed evidence. Discussion of V.D.'s virginity and sexual history falls squarely under NRS 50.090 as interpreted by Johnson v. State, 113 Nev. 772, 942 P.2d 167 (1997). In Nevada, with narrow exception, evidence of previous sexual conduct of a victim of sexual assault is inadmissible to challenge a victim's credibility. NRS 50.090. The statute exists to: (1) Reverse the common law rule that use of evidence of the victim's

general reputation for morality and chastity is admissible to infer consent and attack credibility; (2) Protect the rape victim from degrading and embarrassing disclosure of intimate details about private lives; and (3) Encourage rape victims to come forward and report crimes and testify in court protected from unnecessary indignities and needless probing into their respective sexual histories. See, Drake v. State, 108 Nev. 523, 836 P.2d 52 (1992); Brown v. State, 107 Nev. 164, 807 P.2d 1370 (1991); Lane v. Second Judicial Dist. Court, 104 Nev. 427, 760 P.2d 1245 (1988); Summitt v. State, 101 Nev. 159, 697 P.2d 1374 (1985). Rather than tolerate Harris's thinly veiled attempt to circumvent the statute and impeach V.D.'s credibility based on her sexual history, the court properly followed the directive of the law. To the extent possible, V.D. was protected from the exposure of her personal life in front of family, friends, and strangers at trial. This Court must uphold the District Court's decision to properly exclude the irrelevant and inadmissible testimony about V.D.'s sexual history.

Further, although Harris argues that this testimony was admissible under the Rule of Completeness, the Rule is misapplied. AOB at 41-42. The Rule of Completeness allows one party to introduce additional statements that preceded or followed the admitted testimony in order to put the admissible evidence into context. "The Rule of Completeness is not so broad as to require the admission of all redacted portions of a statement, without regard to content." United States v. Vallejos, 742

F.3d 902, 905 (9th Cir. 2014); See also United States v. Collicott, 92 F.3d 973 (9th Cir. 1996). In this case, Harris did not seek to introduce his comments to Detective Aguiar about V.D.'s virginity in order to put his statement, as admitted, into context. He sought to introduce it for the entirely separate purpose of impeaching V.D., which perverts the Rule of Completeness. Indeed, on appeal, Harris fails to even articulate precisely what context the double hearsay he sought to admit provided. The court appropriately excluded this testimony.

#### **IV.**

#### **The Court properly admitted statements made to police.**

Detective Nicholas Madsen interviewed Miss Ann at the Children's Assessment Center around September of 2012. 17 AA 2899. The State sought to elicit information regarding Tah. D. and Taq. D.'s disclosure to Miss Ann through Detective Madsen and Harris objected, arguing that the statement constituted hearsay. 17 AA 2878-82. The State argued that Miss Ann's statement constituted a statement against penal interest, and the Court overruled the objection. 17 AA 2879-2886.

Though Harris could have called Miss Ann as a witness, he declined to call her because she had been convicted on related child endangerment charges and he feared the introduction of the Judgment of Conviction would undermine her credibility to the jury. 17 AA 1884-85. Defendant now argues that because Miss Ann did not testify, his rights under the Confrontation Clause were violated and this

warrants a reversal. Specifically, he claims that Miss Ann’s statements did not properly fall within the hearsay exception for a statement against interest and because they lacked reliability, they could not be introduced under the Sixth Amendment without the opportunity to cross-examine Miss Ann. AOB at 47.<sup>2</sup>

First, Harris is estopped from complaining about this question under the doctrine of invited error. Rhyne v. State, 118 Nev. 1, 9, 38 P.3d 163, 168 (2002) (invited error not reviewable). At trial, Harris clearly indicated “[the State] and I came to an agreement that [Miss Ann] was not going to testify.” 15 AA 2279. Harris argued that he did not wish to call Miss Ann as a witness, and did not wish to examine her because he worried her Judgment of Conviction for child endangerment pursuant to this case would impeach her reliability. 17 AA 2878-2303. Harris had a number of options available to him at trial, including cross-examining Detective Madsen on non-hearsay statements from Miss Ann’s interview, calling Miss Ann as a witness, and even arguing for the State to call Miss Ann. Instead, he agreed with the State that Miss Ann would not be called only to now complain that he suffered a violation of his rights to confront the same witness. This

---

<sup>2</sup> The State submits that because the statement was not offered for the truth of the matter asserted, reaching a conclusion about whether it fell within this exception was unnecessary. The court properly allowed the testimony, though it appears to have applied the wrong analysis and admitted it as an exception to the hearsay rule, rather than as non-hearsay. See Wyatt v. State, 86 Nev. 294, 298, 468 P.2d 338, 341 (1970) (“If a judgment or order of a trial court reaches the right result, although it is based on an incorrect ground, the judgment or order will be affirmed on appeal.”).

is the very definition of invited error and this Court should decline to consider the issue.

Further, there was no violation of the Confrontation Clause or evidentiary rules prohibiting hearsay, as the State did not introduce any testimonial hearsay. As Harris raises the Confrontation Clause complaint for the first time on appeal, it is subject to review for plain error. Generally, the failure to properly preserve an issue for appellate review precludes appellate review. Leonard v. State, 117 Nev. 53, 63, 17 P.3d 397, 403 (2001). However, the Supreme Court maintains discretion to address unpreserved issues under the plain error doctrine. Plain error has been defined as that which is “so unmistakable that it reveals itself by a casual inspection of the record.” Patterson v. State, 111 Nev. 1525, 907 P.2d 984, 987 (1995), citing Torres v. Farmers Insurance Exchange, 106 Nev. 340, 345 n. 2, 793 P. 2d 839, 842 (1990), quoting Williams v. Zellhoefer, 89 Nev. 579, 580, 517 P.2d 789, 789 (1973). Under the plain error doctrine, the Court “must consider whether error exists, if the error was plain or clear, and if the error affected the defendant's substantial rights. The burden rests with [the defendant] to show actual prejudice.” Calvin v. State, 147 P.3d 1097, 1101 (2006).

The Sixth Amendment provides that, “[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to be confronted with the witnesses against him,” and gives the accused the opportunity to cross-examine all those who “bear testimony”

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